# **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN **07-10-2019**

# IN SUPREME COURT PLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2017AP1894-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

STEPHAN I. ROBERSON,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT IV, REVERSING AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE, ENTERED IN WOOD COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE NICHOLAS J. BRAZEAU, JR., PRESIDING

### PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

1. C.A.S. claimed that a person, whom he knew as "P" through two prior drug transactions, shot him. Officers presented C.A.S. with a single photograph of Stephen I. Roberson. C.A.S. identified Roberson as the alleged shooter. Did C.A.S.'s out-of-court identification of Roberson from a single photograph violate his due process rights?

The circuit court answered: Yes.

The court of appeals answered: No. The court of appeals declined to extend *State v. Dubose*, 2005 WI 126, 285 Wis. 2d 143, 699 N.W.2d 582, to a single-photograph identification and determined that C.A.S.'s identification of Roberson was sufficiently reliable under the totality of the circumstances and, therefore, admissible.

This Court should answer: No.

2. Even if C.A.S.'s out-of-court identification violated Roberson's due process rights, was C.A.S.'s in-court identification of Roberson admissible because it rested on C.A.S.'s prior independent recollection of Roberson?

The circuit court answered: No.

The court of appeals answered: Yes.

This Court should answer: Yes.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This case merits oral argument and publication.

### INTRODUCTION

During a shooting investigation, Wisconsin Rapids police officers presented the victim, C.A.S., with a single photograph of Roberson from his Facebook page. C.A.S.

identified Roberson as the person who shot him. C.A.S. told police that he and Roberson had conducted two drug transactions in the days before the shooting. C.A.S. also identified Roberson as the shooter in court at a hearing on Roberson's motion to suppress C.A.S.'s identification.

Despite finding that C.A.S. had a sufficient basis to identify the shooter from two prior meetings with him that lasted one-half hour each, the circuit court determined that the out-of-court identification tainted C.A.S.'s in-court identification of Roberson. Based on its determination that the out-of-court identification process was impermissibly suggestive and unreliable, the circuit court suppressed C.A.S.'s out-of-court and in-court identifications of Roberson.

On appeal, the parties have disputed the legal standard that a court should apply when assessing the admissibility of an out-of-court identification based on a single photograph.

The State contends that courts should follow the longstanding suggestiveness-reliability test set forth in *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 198–200 (1972), and *Powell v. State*, 86 Wis. 2d 51, 64–65, 271 N.W.2d 610 (1978). Under that test, a court may admit an out-of-court identification based on an otherwise impermissibly suggestive identification procedure, if the out-of-court identification was reliable under the totality of the circumstances. *Id*.

In contrast, Roberson asserts that Dubose's necessity test should apply to a single-photograph identification. Dubose, 285 Wis. 2d 143, ¶ 33. Under this standard, which this Court grounded in its interpretation of Article I, Section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution, "evidence obtained from an out-of-court showup is inherently suggestive and will not be admissible unless, based on the totality of the circumstances, the procedure was necessary." Id. ¶¶ 33, 36.

The Court need not overrule *Dubose* to decide Roberson's case. Like the court of appeals, this Court can reaffirm that the suggestiveness-reliability test applies to review of an out-of-court identification based on a single photograph. Like the court of appeals, this Court can decline to extend *Dubose*'s necessity standard to review of out-of-court identification procedures other than in-person showups.

But this Court should go further and overrule *Dubose*, which departs from this Court's longstanding practice of treating the due process clauses of the Wisconsin and United States Constitutions as substantially equivalent and subject to identical interpretation. Neither *Dubose* nor cases decided after *Dubose* provide guidance as to when this Court will find greater due process protection under the Wisconsin Constitution than under its federal counterpart. *Dubose* is unsound because its exclusive focus on necessity may result in the exclusion of otherwise reliable evidence. An identification's reliability, not its necessity, should be the determinative factor for assessing whether it violates a defendant's due process rights.

This Court should determine that C.A.S.'s out-of-court and in-court identifications of Roberson are admissible. First, based on C.A.S.'s prior relationship with Roberson, the officers' use of a single photograph to identify Roberson was not impermissibly suggestive. Second, even if it was impermissibly suggestive, C.A.S.'s out-of-court identification was still reliable under the totality of circumstances. C.A.S.'s statement suggesting that black people look alike detracted from the reliability of his identification. But other factors heavily supported its reliability, including C.A.S.'s two previous contacts with Roberson and the time they spent together immediately before, during, and after the shooting.

Further, even if the circuit court properly excluded the out-of-court identification, it erred when it excluded C.A.S.'s

in-court identification of Roberson. Based on their previous contacts with each other, C.A.S.'s in-court identification rested on a source independent of his out-of-court identification of Roberson from a single photograph.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### I. Statement of Facts

On January 20, 2017, Roberson allegedly shot C.A.S. in Roberson's car after C.A.S. told Roberson that another person robbed C.A.S. of marijuana that C.A.S. agreed to sell for Roberson. (R. 4:1–2.)

C.A.S.'s first meeting with Roberson. C.A.S. stated that he met a person who used the name "P" at Walmart toward the end of January 2017. (R. 35, A-App. 110.)¹ P tapped C.A.S. on the shoulder and asked C.A.S. if he "smoked." (A-App. 110.) C.A.S. replied, "yes." (Id.) "P," who was attempting to obtain marijuana, asked C.A.S. if he could get a "bag"; C.A.S. replied, "yes." (Id.) "P" gave C.A.S. a ride in a tannish, gold-colored Buick to get marijuana. (A-App. 110–11.) C.A.S. recalled that "P" wore a sweatshirt with work pants and that he had dreadlocks or cornrows. (A-App. 111.) After C.A.S. helped "P" purchase marijuana, "P" drove C.A.S. back to Walmart. C.A.S. gave "P" his number. (Id.) This first meeting lasted a little longer than a half hour. (A-App. 120.)

P contacted C.A.S. the following day because C.A.S. was supposed to obtain more marijuana for "P." (A-App. 111.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The motion hearing transcript appears in the record at R. 35. Because the transcript's pagination in the electronic record does not reflect its actual pagination, the State provides a clean version of the transcript in its appendix and will cite to the appendix in the brief.

C.A.S. told "P" that he could get marijuana but was unsuccessful. (A-App. 112.)

C.A.S.'s second meeting with Roberson. "P" contacted C.A.S. the next day about getting marijuana for "P." (A-App. 112.) C.A.S. texted "P" and said that he could get marijuana, but "P" replied that he would have to wait until after "P" got off work. (A-App. 112.) "P" later picked up C.A.S. and C.A.S.'s brother and sister. (Id.) After they got the marijuana, "P" entered C.A.S.'s house and asked C.A.S. to sell it for him. (Id.) While "P" wanted C.A.S. to sell it in "eighths," C.A.S. only knew someone who wanted a half ounce. (A-App. 112–13.) C.A.S. described "P" as wearing a sweatshirt and workpants, and having dreadlocks or cornrows in his hair. (A-App. 113.) The second meeting between C.A.S. and "P" lasted a little longer than one half-hour. (A-App. 120.) C.A.S. was later robbed of the marijuana at gun point when he went to sell it. (A-App. 113, 120.)

C.A.S. third meeting with Roberson. After C.A.S. texted "P" and told him that he had been robbed, "P" picked up C.A.S. (A-App. 114.) They drove toward the dog park. (Id.) When "P" and C.A.S. were talking, "P" fired a shot past C.A.S.'s head. (Id.) During their altercation, "P" then shot C.A.S. in the leg. (Id.) "P" then asked C.A.S. if he was going to tell anyone; C.A.S. replied, "no," and asked "P" to take him home. (Id.) C.A.S. said that this meeting lasted between one and one-half hours to two hours. (A-App. 120.)

Law enforcement's identification of Roberson as the person referred to as "P." Investigator Nathan Reblin of the Wisconsin Rapids Police Department learned from other unidentified people that a man who used the name "P" shot C.A.S. in the leg. (A-App. 121–23.) Reblin saw text messages between C.A.S. and someone identified as "P" on C.A.S.'s Facebook page. (A-App. 124.) Reblin determined that "P"s phone number was linked to Roberson's Facebook account. (A-

App. 121–24.) Reblin saw Roberson's profile picture on his Facebook page. (A-App. 126.)

Waupaca County Sheriff's Deputy Kevin Studzinski encountered Roberson during a traffic stop, and Roberson took Studzinski's picture. (A-App. 132–33, 135.) Officers later saw Studzinski's picture on Roberson's Facebook page, and Studzinski identified Roberson in court as owner of that Facebook page. (A-App. 140.)

C.A.S.'s out-of-court identification of Roberson. At the suppression hearing, C.A.S. explained that he was taken into custody on a probation hold approximately two weeks after he was shot. (A-App. 115–16.) While he was in jail, C.A.S. spoke to Reblin about the shooting. (A-App. 127.) Before C.A.S. identified Roberson as the shooter from Roberson's Facebook profile picture, C.A.S. and Reblin discussed the circumstances that led to the shooting. (A-App. 127–28.)

Reblin's recorded interview with C.A.S.<sup>2</sup> Reblin told C.A.S. that he wanted to talk to him about being shot. (R. 19:09h:22m:50s-23m:20s.) C.A.S. said that a "black guy" named "P" was involved. (R. 19:09h:23m:36s.) C.A.S. explained that he met "P" at Walmart; "P" asked if he had "weed." (R. 19:09h:23m:43s.) C.A.S. confirmed that he had never seen "P" before that day in his life. (R. 19:09h:27m:02s.) C.A.S. stated "P" told him that he had been trying to get a "bag" for about a week. (R. 19:09h:27m:31s.) C.A.S. got "weed" for "P" the first time they met. (R. 19:09h:23m:58s.)

C.A.S. told Reblin that "P" bought him a phone. (R. 19:09h:25m:25s.) Reblin said that he saw texts on the phone with a person named "P," and C.A.S. confirmed that this was on a phone that "P" gave him. (R. 19:09h:26m:02s—

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A DVD of Reblin's interview with C.A.S. was received as evidence at the suppression hearing. (A-App. 103–04; R. 19.)

45s.) C.A.S. described "P"s car as a gold Buick Century. (R. 19:09h:28m:14s.)

C.A.S. told Reblin that "P" asked him to "hustle" the marijuana for him, but someone robbed him of the marijuana. (R. 19:09h:28m–29m.) When C.A.S. told "P" someone robbed him of the marijuana, "P" drove C.A.S. to a dog park. (R. 19:09h:29m:04s–30m:33s.) "P" shot a .22 or .25 caliber gun past C.A.S.'s head, punched him in the face, and then shot him in the leg. (R.19:09h:31m:50s–32m:01s.) "P" asked C.A.S., "Why did you make me shoot you?" (R. 19:09h:31m:44s, 09h:36m:41s.)

From his conversations with "P," C.A.S. learned that "P" was from Milwaukee and had recently moved to the area (R. 19:09h:38m:59s), that "P" had just got out of prison (R. 19:09h:39m:11s), and "P" could not be reached when he was at work. (R. 19:09h:39m:19s.)

Reblin testified that he asked C.A.S. if he could identify the person who shot him. (A-App. 127.) C.A.S. testified that he got a good look at the person who shot him and knew what the shooter looked like. (A-App. 116.) Reblin then showed C.A.S. a Facebook profile picture of Roberson, who was wearing a dress shirt, bow tie, suspenders, and sunglasses. (A-App. 117, 127–28; R. 20; 21.)<sup>3</sup> C.A.S. identified the person in the picture as "P," the person who shot him. (A-App. 118–19, 128; R. 20.) Officers did not show C.A.S. any other photographs. (A-App. 119.)

In C.A.S.'s recorded interview, Reblin asked C.A.S. if he would recognize "P" if he saw him again. (R. 19:09h:39m:30s.) C.A.S. replied, "possibly . . . black people kind of look . . ."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Exhibit 2 is a black and white version of a colored photograph that appears on Roberson's Facebook page, which was marked and received as Exhibit 3. (R. 20; 21:1.)

while making a hand gesture that included opening his hand with his palm facing out and placing it back on his lap. (R. 19:09h:39m:34s.)

Another officer then showed C.A.S. his cell phone. (R. 19:09h:39m:41s.) After C.A.S. appeared to shake his head up and down, Reblin asked if that was "him," C.A.S. replied, "Yep." (R. 19:09h:39m:43s.) Reblin asked C.A.S. "100%?" C.A.S. responded, "100%." (R. 19:09h:39m:51s.) After C.A.S. identified "P," Reblin and C.A.S. discussed C.A.S.'s contacts with "P," the circumstances that led to the shooting, and possible court proceedings. (R. 19:09h:39m:55s–09h:57m:20s.)

Reblin did not believe that a photo array was necessary because he had already identified Roberson without C.A.S. (A-App. 128.) Further, while C.A.S. knew Roberson by his nickname, C.A.S. had more than "a one-time interaction with him." (A-App. 128–29.)

C.A.S.'s in-court identification of Roberson. At a suppression hearing, C.A.S. identified Roberson as the person who shot him. (A-App. 116.) C.A.S. testified that he got a good look at the shooter and he knew what the shooter looked like before Reblin showed him the picture. (A-App. 116.)

# II. Procedural History

# A. Circuit court proceedings

The State charged Roberson with first-degree reckless injury, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.23(1)(a). (R. 4:1.) Roberson moved to suppress C.A.S.'s and Officer Studzinski's identification of him. (R. 17:1.) C.A.S., Reblin, and Studzinski testified at an evidentiary hearing. (R. 35.)

In its decision, the circuit court concluded that "[t]he chances that a misidentification occurred are unclear." (R. 28:3.) The circuit court observed:

[C.A.S.] had every opportunity to observe the defendant at the time of the crime. They were seated in the front seat of a car together after the defendant had come and picked [C.A.S.] up. They drove, but then stopped the car for their confrontation. [C.A.S.]'s degree of attention is difficult to pinpoint. On the one hand, it is likely he was paying attention to the person in this physical confrontation who shot him. However, it is also likely that he was paying attention to the gun and the situation, as well as the robbery that had recently occurred to him. There was no prior description of the criminal to weigh in this case. The level of attention demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation was not significant here. The length of time between the crime and the confrontation in court was approximately two months. While not noted in those factors, it is also relevant at this state to consider [C.A.S.]'s comment to the effect that African Americans look alike. The chances that misidentification occurred are unclear.

### (R. 28:2-3.)

The circuit court determined that "[C.A.S.] had met 'P' twice before the shooting incident. These weren't meetings in passing; they lasted approximately a half hour each. This Court believes [C.A.S.] has a sufficient basis to identify 'P' from those meetings." (R. 28:3.)

Based on this record, the circuit court determined that Reblin's presentation of a single photograph of Roberson to C.A.S. unnecessarily suggested Roberson's identification:

The process is shaky, and the victim making the identification is likewise shaky, so the Court lacks confidence that the identification of "P" by [C.A.S.] is not the result of showing the single photo to him. As such, [C.A.S.]'s identification of [Roberson]'s photo

and his later identification in court, tainted by his exposure to that photo, are suppressed.

(R. 28:4.) While the circuit court suppressed both C.A.S.'s out-of-court and in-court identifications of Roberson, it denied his motion to suppress Studzinski's identification of him. (R. 28:5–6.)

## B. The Court of Appeals' Decision

The State appealed the circuit court's decision suppressing C.A.S.'s identifications of Roberson. State v. Roberson, No. 2017AP1894-CR, 2018 WL 4846813, ¶ 1 (Wis. Ct. App. Oc. 4, 2018). The court of appeals reversed, determining that both C.A.S.'s out-of-court and in-court identifications were admissible. Id. ¶¶ 1, 8, 51.

The court of appeals declined to apply *Dubose*'s necessity standard when it assessed the admissibility of C.A.S.'s out-of-court identification of Roberson from a single photograph. *Roberson*, 2018 WL 4846813, ¶ 17. Considering *Dubose* and *State v. Ziegler*, 2012 WI 73, 342 Wis. 2d 256, 816 N.W.2d 238, the court of appeals concluded that "a single photograph identification procedure is not a 'showup." *Id.* ¶ 15. Further, based on this Court's later comment restricting *Dubose*'s "broader [due process] right to the specific context of an identification procedure known as a 'showup," the court of appeals declined to apply *Dubose*'s necessity test to C.A.S.'s identification of Roberson. *Id.* ¶ 17 (quoting *State v. Luedtke*, 2015 WI 42, ¶ 48, 362 Wis. 2d 1, 863 N.W.2d 592).

Instead, the court of appeals reviewed the admissibility of C.A.S.'s out-of-court and in-court identifications of Roberson under "the long-standing suggestiveness/reliability test" set forth in *Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 198, and *Powell*, 86 Wis. 2d at 64–65. *Roberson*, 2018 WL 4846813, ¶¶ 10, 18. For purposes of analysis, it assumed that the out-of-court procedure was impermissibly suggestive and focused on

whether the State proved that the identification was "nonetheless reliable." Id. ¶ 18. While acknowledging that C.A.S. made a "careless and racist statement" during the interview, the court of appeals determined that "a reasonable fact finder watching the video could find" that "CAS credibly had no trouble actually identifying the particular black male with whom he had spent considerable time." Id. ¶ 49. Based upon the totality of circumstances, including "CAS's opportunity to view "P," C.A.S.'s degree of attention, C.A.S.'s level of certainty, and the length of time between the shooting and the identification," the court of appeals concluded that the single-photograph procedure was sufficiently reliable and, therefore, that the out-of-court identification was admissible. Id. ¶¶ 49–50. Because it determined that the out-of-court procedure was sufficiently reliable, the court of appeals concluded that C.A.S.'s in-court identification was admissible. *Id.* ¶ 8.

## C. Roberson's petition for review

Roberson asked the Court to address whether *Dubose's* necessity standard should apply when a court assesses the admissibility of an out-of-court identification based on a single photograph. (Roberson's Pet. 1.) The State opposed the petition because the court of appeals correctly determined that Dubose's necessity test does not apply to singlephotograph presentations. (State's Response 2-5.Alternatively, the State explained that if the Court granted the petition, it would ask the Court to overrule *Dubose* and hold that the Biggers/Powell suggestiveness-reliability test should apply whenever a court reviews a challenged out-ofcourt identification. (State's Response 6–10.) The Court granted Roberson's petition.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court applies a two-step analysis when it reviews a motion to suppress an out-of-court or in-court identification. First, it will uphold the circuit court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous. *Dubose*, 285 Wis. 2d 143. "[W]hen evidence in the record consists of disputed testimony and a video recording, [a reviewing court] will apply the clearly erroneous standard of review when reviewing the trial court's findings of fact based on that recording." *State v. Walli*, 2011 WI App 86, ¶ 17, 334 Wis. 2d 402, 799 N.W.2d 898.4

Second, this Court independently applies the relevant constitutional principles to these facts. *State v.* (*David*) *Roberson*, 2006 WI 80, ¶ 25, 292 Wis. 2d 280, 717 N.W.2d 111.

#### ARGUMENT

I. The officers' decision to present C.A.S. with a single photograph of Roberson did not violate Roberson's due process rights.

First, the State discusses the suggestiveness-reliability test and the *Dubose* necessity test. Second, the State addresses why the suggestiveness-reliability test, and not the *Dubose* necessity test, should apply to single-photograph identifications. Third, the State explains why, though this Court need not overturn *Dubose* to decide Roberson's case, it

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