RECEIVED

OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

02-20-2018
CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal No. 2017AP1894-CR Circuit Court Case No. 2017CF76

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

STEPHAN I. ROBERSON,

Defendant-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE ORDER GRANTING A MOTION SUPPRESS EVIDENCE, ENTERED IN WOOD COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, HON. NICHOLAS J. BRAZEAU, PRESIDING.

DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

SUZANNE EDWARDS State Bar No. 1046579 Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

Law Office of Suzanne Edwards PO Box 70 Dodgeville WI 53533 (608) 935-7079

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

ARGUMENT

III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO SUPPRESS THE ALLEGED VICTIM'S OUT-OF-COURT IDENTIFICATION WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS WHERE POLICE USED A SINGLE PHOTOGRAPH OF ROBERSON IN THE SHOWUP.

1. Review of Suppression Motions.

Appellate review of a motion to suppress, employs a two-step analysis. State v. Eason, 2001 WI 98, ¶ 9, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 222. The first step is to review the circuit court's findings of fact which will upheld, unless they are against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. State v. Martwick, 2000 WI 5, ¶ 18, 231 Wis. 2d 801. "In reviewing an order suppressing evidence, appellate courts will uphold findings of evidentiary or historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous." State v. Kieffer, 217 Wis. 2d 531, 541 (1998); see also State v. Harris, 206 Wis. 2d 243, 249-50 (1996). The second step is an independent review of the application of relevant constitutional principles to those facts. State v. Vorburger, 2002 WI 105, ¶ 32, 255 Wis. 2d 537. Since the second step involves a question of law, the appellate court conducts a de novo review, but with the benefit of analyses of the circuit court and court of appeals, of applicable. See *Kieffer*, 217 Wis. 2d at 541.

A finding of fact is clearly erroneous if it is against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Arias*, 2008 WI 84, ¶ 12, 311 Wis. 2d 358, (*quoting State v. Sykes*, 2005 WI 48, ¶ 21 n. 7, 279 Wis. 2d 742).

2. Analyzing Showup Identifications.

This case involves a showup identification. "A 'showup' is an out-of-court pretrial identification procedure in which a suspect is presented singly to

a witness for identification purposes." State v. Wolverton, 193 Wis. 2d 234, 263 n. 21, (1995) (citing Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 302, 87 S.Ct. 1967 (1967)). Since the mid 1960s, the right of due process in out-of-court identification has been addressed in several United States Supreme Court decisions. In Stovall, an African-American male, was arrested for murder and taken to the hospital room of the only surviving witness to the alleged crime who was awaiting surgery for stab wounds. The defendant, the only African-American in the room, was handcuffed to one of five police officers who, along with two prosecutors, brought him into the hospital room. The witness identified the defendant from her hospital bed after a police officer asked her if he "was the man," and the defendant uttered a few words for the purpose of voice identification. After she recovered, she testified at the defendant's trial as to the hospital room identification and then also made an in-court identification of the defendant. Stovall, 388 U.S. at 295.

The U.S. Supreme Court concluded that due process was a recognized ground of attack under such circumstances, as "[t]he practice of showing suspects singly to persons for the purpose of identification, and not as part of a lineup, has been widely condemned." *Id.* 388 U.S. at 302 (footnote omitted). Still, the Court held that the existence of a due process violation depends on the totality of the circumstances surrounding it, with a key factor being necessity. *Id.*

Given the witness could not visit the jail or courthouse in her condition, the prognosis of witness was uncertain, police had a responsibility to identify the attacker, and the need for immediate confrontation in the hospital was imperative. *Id.*, 388 U.S. at 302. Thus although the identification was suggestive, the U.S. Supreme Court determined that it did not violate the defendant's

right to due process because the procedure was necessary. *Id.*

Later, the U.S. Supreme Court reviewed other cases, considering the scope of due process protection against the admission of evidence derived from suggestive identification procedures, namely, Simmons v. United States, 390 U.S. 377, 88 S.Ct. 967 (1968); Foster v. California, 394 U.S. 440, 89 S.Ct. 1127 (1969); and Coleman v. Alabama, 399 U.S. 1, 90 S.Ct. 1999 (1970). From these cases general guidelines developed "as to the relationship between suggestiveness and misidentification." Simmons, 390 U.S. at 384.

The Court held that each case must be considered on its own facts, and that convictions based on eyewitness identification at trial following a pretrial identification by photograph will be set aside on that ground only if the photographic identification procedure was so impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification." Simmons v. United States, 390 U.S. 377, 88 S.Ct. 967 (1968).

In 1972, the U.S. Supreme Court decided another case which concerned the station-house identification of the defendant by the alleged victim of sexual assault. In *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S.Ct. 375 (1972), a woman reported she was assaulted in her kitchen at night by a youth with a butcher knife. After several lineups and showups over seven months, until she was called to the police station to view Biggers who was being held on other charges. When police were unable to locate suitable subjects for a lineup, they chose to walk the defendant past the victim and directed him to say "shut up or I'll kill you." The victim then identified Biggers as the man who assaulted her. *Id.*, at 195.

In Biggers, the U.S. Supreme Court opined that suggestive confrontations are disapproved

because they increased the likelihood of misidentification, and unnecessarily suggestive ones are condemned for the further reason that the increased chance of misidentification is gratuitous. Id., at 198 (emphasis added). However, the Court also held the "admission of evidence of a showup without more does not violate due process." *Id.* The Court then considered the following factors in evaluating the likelihood of misidentification:

- [1] The opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime,
- [2] the witness' degree of attention,
- [3] the accuracy of the witness' prior description of the criminal,
- [4] the level of certainty demonstrated at the confrontation, and
- [5] the time between the crime and the confrontation. (*Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 200.)

Ultimately, the U.S. Supreme Court found the District Court's conclusion that the station-house identification was so suggestive that it violated due clearly erroneous. process, was Using delineated factors, the Court found: 1) the victim spent up to half an hour with her assailant; "a considerable period of time," 2) she was with him under adequate artificial light in her house and under a full moon outdoors, 3) she faced him directly and intimately at least twice, 4) she was no casual observer, but rather the victim of one of the most personally humiliating of all crimes, 5) her description to the police, which included the assailant's approximate age, height, complexion, skin texture, build, and voice was more than ordinarily thorough, and 6) she had "no doubt" that Biggers was the person who assaulted her. Id., at 201.

In 1995, the Wisconsin Supreme Court decided *Wolverton*, adopting the test set forth in *Biggers* in an attempt to minimize the misidentification of defendants in Wisconsin. *See State v. Wolverton*, 193 Wis. 2d 234 (1995); *Fells v.*

State, 65 Wis. 2d 525 (1974) The Court upheld the admissibility of the out-of-court identifications by multiple witnesses who had observed Wolverton on multiple occasions before he was shown sitting in the back seat of a squad car. However, the Court did not find the identifications admissible under standards involving due process and necessity as set forth in *Stovall*, but because under the totality of the circumstances, such identifications were determined to be reliable. *Wolverton*, 193 Wis. 2d at 268.

Ten years after Wolverton, the Wisconsin Supreme Court reexamined their position that evidence from an impermissibly suggestive out-ofcourt identification can still be used at trial if. based on the totality of the circumstances, the identification was reliable. In State v. Dubose, 2005 WI 26, 285 Wis. 2d. 143, the Court recognized there had been extensive studies on the issue of identification evidence, research that they found impossible to ignore. *Id.*, at ¶ 29 (internal citations omitted). They concluded, "[t]he research strongly conclusion supports the that evewitness misidentification is now the single greatest source of wrongful convictions in the United States, and responsible for more wrongful convictions than all other causes combined." Id. at ¶ 30 (internal citations omitted).

> In light of such evidence, we recognize that our current approach to eyewitness identification has significant flaws. After the Supreme Court's decisions in Biggers and Brathwaite, the test for showups evolved from an inquiry into unnecessary suggestiveness to an inquiry of impermissible suggestiveness, while forgiving impermissible suggestiveness if the identification could be said to be reliable. Studies have now shown that approach is unsound, since it is extremely difficult, if not impossible, for courts to distinguish between identifications reliable that were identifications that were unreliable. "Considering the complexity of the human mind and the subtle effects of suggestive

procedures upon it, a determination that an identification was unaffected by such procedures must itself be open to serious question." *State v. Leclair*, 118 N.H. 214, 385 A. 2d 831, 833 (1978). Because a witness can be influenced by the suggestive procedure itself, a court cannot know exactly how reliable the identification would have been without the suggestiveness. *Dubose*, 2005 WI 126 at ¶ 31.

The Court in *Dubose*, abrogated *Wolverton* by concluding that evidence obtained from an out-ofcourt showup is inherently suggestive inadmissible unless, based on the totality of the circumstances, the procedure was necessary. A showup will not be necessary, however, unless the police lacked probable cause to make an arrest or, as a result of other exigent circumstances, could not have conducted a lineup or photo array. A lineup or photo array is generally fairer than a showup, because it distributes the probability of identification among the number of persons arraved, reducing the risk thus of misidentification. *Id.*, at ¶ 33.

Turning to the facts of the case, and knowing that showups are inadmissible as being inherently suggestive, the issue becomes whether the showup was necessary.

Investigator Reblin testified he received information from a confidential informant that CAS had been shot in the leg and where CAS was staying in Wisconsin Rapids. He later received a cell phone from another confidential informant that was logged in to the Facebook account belonging to CAS. Reblin also discovered text messages between CAS and P and also P's phone number. Reblin traced the phone number through Facebook to Roberson's account. With this information, Reblin obtained a search warrant of the residence where CAS was reportedly staying where it was also reported bloodstains were present. When the search warrant was executed, CAS was not present, although there appeared to be bloodstains on some

boxer shorts, a chair, and a quilt. (R.35, p.23-25, A-App. 129-131.) Reblin finally met with CAS in the Wood County Jail where he was being held on a probation hold after receiving treatment for old gunshot wounds. After asking CAS about the circumstances surrounding his gun shot wound he asked if CAS could identify the shooter. Reblin's partner then showed CAS Roberson's Facebook profile photo.(R.35, p.27, A-App. 133.)

Reblin testified he did not think a photo array was necessary.

Q. Okay. Did you take -- did you think that a photo array was necessary in this case?

A. I did not.

Q. Why not?

A. We had identification through other means than [CAS].(R.35, p.28, A-App.134.)

On cross-examination Reblin agreed that he was fairly certain that Roberson was P and the shooter. (R.35, p29, A-App 135.) Reblin also admitted he did not ask CAS for a detailed description of P's features for comparison to the photo of Roberson.

In the instant case using the *Dubose* looking and at the totality circumstances, the showup was not necessary. Reblin had already connected P to CAS with the cellphone that was logged into CAS' Facebook account. Reblin also connected P's cellphone number to Roberson's Facebook profile. Plus, alluded to having other means identification other than what CAS could provide. So Reblin already had probable cause to arrest Roberson, even without conducting the showup, based on whatever "other means of identification" he already had.

Additionally, there were no exigent circumstances justifying the showup. Reblin learned about CAS having a gunshot wound from a confidential informant and despite watching the

residence where CAS was reported to be staying then executing a search warrant, Reblin could not locate CAS. It was not until CAS was arrested on a probation hold, nearly three weeks after the event, before Reblin and his partner went to the jail to interview him.

In its brief, the State asserts that this Court determined the *Dubose* necessity standard is limited to in-person police showups and does not apply to out-of-court identifications based on photographs, citing to *State v. Drew*, 2007 WI App 213, ¶ 19. (Ap.'s Br. p. 12, n.5.)

In *Drew*, the challenge concerned the method of conducting a photo array, arguing that by allowing the witness to use a process of elimination until only Drew's photo remained was "unnecessarily suggestive." *Drew*, at ¶ 15. A reading of the paragraph the State cites to does not hold what the State purports.

¶ 19 We recognize that the photo array here, unlike the spontaneous encounter in Hibl, is a law enforcement procedure and therefore that distinction between Hibl and Dubose does not apply here. Nonetheless, we read Hibl as emphasizing the limited nature of the actual holding in Dubose. While a fair reading of Hibl that the concerns about eyewitness identification discussed in Dubose may require a re-examination of standards for other types of identification procedures, we see nothing in Dubose that suggests that should happen for photo arrays in particular, or that suggests how the new Dubose standard for showups might apply to photo arrays. We therefore conclude that, until the supreme court indicates otherwise, the correct standard for photo arrays is that articulated in Powell and Mosley. *Drew*, 2007 WI App 213, ¶ 19. (footnote omitted.)

The standard in *Powell* and *Mosely* is that a criminal defendant bears the initial burden of demonstrating that a *photo array* was impermissibly suggestive and then the burden

shifts to the state to demonstrate that under the totality of the circumstances the identification was reliable. *Powell v. State*, 86 Wis. 2d 51 (1978) and *State v. Mosley*, 102 Wis. 2d 636 (1981). The *Drew* decision does not, contrary to the State's assertion, limit the *Dubose* necessity standard to in-person police showups or render it inapplicable to out-of-court identifications using *a single photograph*.

Even though reliability is not required under Dubose, some factors in the instant case are worth noting. First is the problem of cross racial/cultural identification, which CA demonstrated during his interview that he was unsure if he could distinguish between African-American faces. Second, description of P by CAS was cursory: wearing work pants, a sweatshirt and his hair had dreadlocks or corn rows and made no mention of sunglasses. Yet Roberson's Facebook photo shows him wearing making unlikely sunglasses. it more identification was reliable. Third, CAS' story has him being threatened at gunpoint by two separate men concerning marijuana within twenty to thirty minutes, a scenario fraught with the potential for misidentification.

The trial court was correct to suppress the out-of-court identification as showing CAS a single photograph on a detective's cell phone as it was inherently suggestive and not necessary under the circumstances. Law enforcement could have easily put together a photo array to show CAS at the jail. No exigent circumstances justified the forgoing of standard methods of identification like photo arrays and line ups.

IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO SUPPRESS THE ALLEGED VICTIM'S IN COURT IDENTIFICATION WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.

The admissibility of an in-court identification depends upon whether that identification evidence

has been tainted by illegal activity. In general, evidence must be suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree, if such evidence is obtained "by exploitation of that illegality." *State v. Roberson*, 2006 WI 80, ¶ 32, 292 Wis. 2d 280, 304; *quoting State v. Knapp*, 2005 WI 127, ¶ 24, 285 Wis. 2d 86 (citation omitted).

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